By.

JUN 3 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DARRYL BRYAN BARWICK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 70,097

Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

WILLIAM C. MCLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, Darryl Bryan Barwick, will be referred to by name in this brief. The record on appeal consists of twenty volumes and a supplement of three volumes. References to the original record will be designated with the prefix "R," and references to the supplement will be similarly designed with the prefix "SR."

Barwick is appealing judgments in two cases. The first involves his conviction for murder and death sentence. (Circuit Court number 86-940) The second is a violation of probation in a sexual battery and burglary case premised upon his conviction for the murder. (Circuit Court number 83-1056)

- 1 -

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# Procedural Progress of the Case

A Bay County grand jury indicted Darryl Bryan Barwick on April 28, 1986, for first degree murder, armed burglary, attempted sexual battery and armed robbery. (R 1924-1925) Barwick pleaded not guilty. (R 1921) He proceeded to a jury trial relying on the defense of insanity. (R 1966, 1970, 2152, 2188-2205) On November 24, 1986, the jury found Barwick guilty as charged. (R 2266-2267) After hearing additional evidence, the jury recommended a death sontence for the murder. (R 2293)

Before sentencing, the court ordered a presentence investigation report (R 2294)(SR 1-18), and considered sentencing memorandums from counsel. (R 2310-2337) On January 30, 1987, Circuit Judge W. Fred Turner adjudged Barwick guilty on all counts. (R 2339-2335) He sentenced Barwick to death for the murder, life for the armed burglary, fifteen years for attempted sexual battery, and life for the armed robbery. (R 2331-2335) In his written findings in support of the death sentence, Judge Turner found four aggravating circumstances: (1) Barwick had a previous co-viction for a violent felony; (2) the homicide was committed during a robbery, attempted sexual battery and burglary; (3) the homicide was committed to avoid arrest; and (4) the homicide was especially heinous atrocious or cruel. (R 2336-2338) The court departed from the recommended guidelines sentence on the other counts because of the copital felony as an additional offense at conviction and

- 2 -

the 37 knife wounds the victim received during the offenses. (R 2339)

Barwick filed a motion for a new trial on December 3, 1986 (R 2306-2309), which the trial court denied on March 11, 1987. (R 2360) He timely filed notice of appeal to this Court on February 20, 1987. (R 2348)

On December 2, 1983, Barwick was convicted for a sexual battery and burglary and sentenced to five years followed by ten years probation. (R 1868-1872) He was on probation at the time he was indicted for the murder and related offenses. On April 30, 1986, a affidavit for violation of probation was filed alleging as the sole violation the commission of the murder. (R 1878-1881) At a hearing after Barwick's conviction for murder, the court found him in violation of probation on the basis of the murder conviction. (R 1679-1689, 1891) Judge Turner adjudged Barwick guilty and sentenced him to seventeen years on each count. (R 1690-1691, 1886-1890) Barwick timely filed his notice of appeal on February 20, 1987.(R 1893)

### Facts -- The State's Case

Rebecca Wendt shared an apartment with her sister, Michael Ann Wendt, and worked as a waitress at a nearby restaurant. (R 374-375) On March 31, 1986, Michael left the apartment around 10:15 a.m. to go to take her younger brother and sister, who were visiting, to the beach. (R 377) Rebecca was sunbathing on the grass just outside the front door of their apartment. (R 378) Michael and her friend, JoAnn Parrillo, returned at 8:00

- 3 -

p.m. and noticed all the lights were out in the apartment. (R 378) Michael also saw that the television cord was plugged into an outside electrical outlet. (R 378) Rebecca frequently watched a show at noon, but Michael was sure that Rebecca would have unplugged the set before taking it back inside the apartment. (R 378) Michael tried to open the door and found it unlocked. (R 378-379) Once inside the women discovered the apartment in disarray, and Parrillo identified a large red stain on the carpet to be blood. (R 379) With the assistance of a neighbor, they checked through the apartment and found Rebecca's body in the bathroom wrapped in a comforter from the bed. (R 379-380)

Lieutenant Frank McKeithen of the Bay County Sheriff's Department testified about his observations at the apartment. (R 405-468) He found the victim lying on the bathroom floor partially wrapped in a comforter. (R 412-413) She wore a lavender bikini; the top was pulled down to her midsection and the bottom was pulled down in the back. (R 412-413) A hand print in blood was on her stomach. (R 413) In addition to the pool of blood on the carpet, McKeithen found blood spattered on other areas of the living room floor, along the walls, on the kitchen floor and counter, and the bathroom. (R 416-417) Two shoe prints in blood were present. (R 416-417) One was located on the tile kitchen floor, and a second partial shoe track was on the comforter. (R 416-417) McKeithen also took five steak knives from the kitchen after Michael Ann Wendt said there had been six. (R 382-383, 479) The victim's purse had been emptied

- 4 -

onto the living room floor. (R 415-416) McKeithen said it appeared as if someone with a bloody hand had emptied the purse because of stains on the wallet. (R 490) Although the victim normally had cash from tips in her purse, no money was found among the scattered contents.(R 376, 495)

According to Dr. Terrance Steiner, associate medical examiner, the victim had received 38 stab wounds. (R 508-537) These occurred over the neck, chest, abdomen, arms and hands. (R 508) Steiner characterized the wounds to the hands as > defensive wounds. (R 509) Thirty of the wounds were less than one inch deep. (R 537) One wound to the neck cut the carotid artery. (R 513) Wounds to the right and left chest penetrated the chest cavity, and a considerable amount of blood was inside the right chest cavity. (R 515) She died from shock due to loss of blood. (R 517) Based on the injuries, Steiner concluded the victim did not live more than five or ten minutes and would have lost consciousness before death. (R 518, 538-539) Because of the extensive number and nature of the wounds, Steiner said this was an example of a phenomenon forensic pathologists call "overkill" which is usually associated with emotional killings--crimes of passion or rage. (R 554)

Three witnesses testified to their observations at the apartment around the time of the homicide. Lora Raffield lived near the Wendt's apartment. (R 387) She said she saw a young woman sunbathing in front of the apartments the morning of March 31, 1986. (R 388) She saw the woman go inside her apartment, leaving her blanket outside, about 11:45. (R 389)

- 5 -

Raffield left her house and returned at 2:30 p.m. (R 390) At that time, she did not see the woman, but the blanket was still outside. (R 390) Michael Ann Wendt's boyfriend, Tim Cherry, telephoned the apartment between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m. but no one answered. (R 393-395) Suzanne Capers, who lived at the same apartments, was also sunbathing that day. (R 396) Between 12:30 and 1:00, she saw a man walking by the apartments. (R 397) He had blonde hair and wore jeans and a blue tank top. (R 397) Since she saw him walking by four or five times, she thought he might be a new tenant. (R 400) The last time she saw him he was standing near the edge of the road and appeared to be staring at her. (R 400) She looked up, and he walked away into some nearby woods. (R 400-401) Investigator McKeithen examined the wooded area where Capers said she saw the man. (R 468-476) He found 20 to 30 sets of footprints in the area. (R 469-474) One set appeared to be similar to the tread design of the tracks inside the apartment. (R 469-476) The design included a square with the word "Nike." (R 475)

McKeithen focused his investigation on Darryl Barwick. On April 1, 1986, McKeithen asked Barwick to come the sheriff's office for questioning. (R 563-564) Barwick agreed, and after McKeithen read him his <u>Miranda</u> rights, Barwick gave a statement detailing his activities on the day of the homicide. (R 564-584)(SR 168-175) He said he spent the night of March 30th at his girl friend's house. (R 580)(SR 169) Between 5:30 and 6:00 a.m., Barwick drove to his parent's house where he lived. (R 581)(SR 170) His sister, Lovie Barwick, was talking

- 6 -

on the telephone to their father who was out of town. (R 581)(SR 170) Barwick then talked to his father who gave him instructions for the day's work. (R 581)(SR 170) Barwick worked for his father's concrete construction business. (R 581) He dressed for work in blue jeans, a blue tank top, a blue checkered shirt, brown work boots and an orange cap. (R 581)(SR 170) After he and a co-worker completed the work, Barwick returned home about 11:30 a.m. (R 582)(SR 171-173) His brother's girl friend, Vickie Burns was there, and after talking to her briefly, Barwick picked up chicken at Church's Chicken. (R 582) (SR 173) He ate at home and took a shower around 1:00 p.m. (R 582)(SR 173) A short time later, he left to meet his girl friend. (R 582)(SR 173) Barwick told McKeithen that he had owned a pair of Nike tennis shoes, but he had thrown them away the previous Saturday. (R 584)(SR 173) He denied any involvement in the murder. (SR 174)

On April 15, 1986, Darryl's sister, Lovie Barwick, responded to a state attorney's investigative subpoena. (R 591) She also testified at trial about a conversation she had with Darryl on April 12th. (R 590) At that time, she asked Darryl if he had killed the girl. (R 591) He told her he did not know why it happened. (R 591) After driving by the apartments, he went home, left his car and walked back. (R 591) He followed the woman inside and pulled her swim suit bottoms down. (R 591) She began to struggle, and he fell back. (R 591) Then, he said he just did it. (R 591) He said he had to do it. (R 592) His sister assumed he killed the woman because she saw Darryl's

- 7 -

face, but he never told her that was the reason. (R 592-593) After the investigative interview, McKeithen obtained a warrant and arrested Barwick as he and his father were driving to a job site at Mexico Beach. (R 606)

While driving to the sheriff's office, McKeithen told Barwick about his sister's statement. (R 607) He responded that his sister was lying. (R 607) Barwick said several times that he wanted to talk to his girl friend. (R 608, 623-626) Barwick's girl friend, Teri Race, was present at the sheriff's office when they arrived. (R 608, 623-626) Finally, Barwick said he would talk to McKeithen if he could talk to his girl friend first. (R 608, 623-626) McKeithen agreed and gave Darryl and Teri approximately three minutes to talk. (R 608, 623-626) Barwick then gave a tape recorded statement. (R 610-615)(SR 176-206)

Darryl Barwick confessed to stabbing Rebecca Wendt. (R 611-614)(SR 176-206) He said he went by Russ Lake Apartments about 12:15 p.m. as he drove to Church's Chicken to get something to eat. (SR 179-180) On his way back, he saw a woman in a bikini sunbathing. (SR 180) After parking his car at home, Barwick walked back to the apartments. (SR 180-181) He walked passed the woman three times, and the third time, he walked into her apartment. (SR 181) The door was open, and she was sitting on a couch watching television. (SR 181) Barwick was wearing blue jeans, a white tank top, baseball batter's gloves and Nike sneakers.(SR 181) He also had a small knife in his pocket which he described as a tomato knife with a serrated

- 8 -

edge. (SR 181-182, 195) As Barwick walked inside, the woman jumped up and yelled, "Get out." (SR 182) He pushed her down and said he would leave in a few minutes. (SR 182) She struck Barwick, and he pulled the knife and said, "Don't wanna hurt you. I can leave in a few minutes; don't give me no trouble." (SR 202) He then dumped her purse and picked up her wallet. (SR 202) Barwick said his only intent was to steal something; he denied any intent to rape. (SR 182, 185) She struck Barwick two or three more times. (SR 202) Barwick stabbed her, and they struggled, lost their balance and fell to the floor. (SR 203) She continued hitting him and he continued stabbing her. (SR 203) Barwick told the detectives, "[I]t's like I lost control. I, I cou ...I didn't, I, I wanted to stop, I knew I did, you know, like I was wrong, but I couldn't." (SR 196)

After the stabbing, Barwick thought of hiding the body. (SR 183-186) He said he rolled her in a blanket and carried her to the bathroom. (SR 184) Realizing that he could not carry the body from the apartment undetected, Barwick left. (SR 187-188) He walked through the woods to the lake across the street from the apartments and threw the knife in the lake. (SR 188) He proceeded to his house, showered and, later, threw his clothes and shoes in a dumpster. (SR 188-191)

A state crime laboratory analyst, Sue Livingston, examined the comforter found wrapped around the body. (R 633-636) She found human blood stains and a semen stain. (R 635-636) The semen stain was left by someone whose blood type was group O with an enzyme factor of PGM 2. (R 636) An examination of

- 9 - 🖓

Barwick's blood and saliva showed him to be a secretor with group O blood and a enzyme factor of PGM 2. (R 643) This placed him in the two percent of the population who could have left the stain. (R 643)

# The Insanity Defense

Barwick presented several witnesses in support of his insanity defense. His mother, father, brothers and sisters testified about his background and growing up experiences. (R 715, 733, 746, 786, 799, 810) Barwick's girl friend testified about their relationship. (R 673) And a clinical psychologist, Dr. Clell Warriner, and his associate, James Beller, testified about their examination and testing of Barwick and his mental state at the time of the homicide. (R 900, 974)

Home life for Darryl while growing up was dominated by his father's explosive anger and brutal discipline. All of the children and Darryl's mother were subjected to Ira Barwick's violence. Darryl's father testified that when Darryl was five years old he whipped him with a belt. (R 750) Later, he hit Darryl with his fists, a piece of 2x4 lumber or any other available weapon. (R 750) Before Darryl was a teenager, his father once knocked him to the floor causing him to strike his head on a coffee table which rendered him unconscious. (R 756-757, 816-817) His father was afraid that he had killed him, but he did not seek medical attention after Darryl regained consciousness. (R 757) William Barwick related an

- 10 -

instance when their father beat him and Darryl with a steel reinforcement rod from a construction site. (R 814, 817-818) On another occasion when Darryl was sixteen, William saw his father hit Darryl hard enough in the face and nose to cause blood to gush from his nose. (R 830) His father then held Darryl's head in a cooler of ice supposedly to stop the bleeding. (R 830-831) William perceived this as further punishment. (R 831) Darryl's sister, Sheila Santiago, said that no one was exempt from Ira Barwick's beatings. (R 736-737) He would use his fists, his feet or anything available to him. (R 737) She related a time when Ira Barwick had left the family and tried to return to the house. Everyone was terrified and Darryl's mother handed a shotgun to William and told him not to allow his father in the house. (R 738) Ira Barwick came inside, took the gun away and tried to unload the gun. (R 738) However, the gun discharged and shot a hole in the floor. (R 738) Darryl was 12 years old at the time of this incident. (R 739) Glenn Barwick said he remembered being beaten by his father from about the age of four or five. (R 789) He said his father used a belt, his fists, his feet or a board. (R 789-791) The children never fought back from these beatings because they were too scared. (R 791-792) Lovie Barwick said their father beat them regularly, sometimes with objects. (R 800) In fact, one time she saw Glenn Barwick cleaning the blood from his head after being hit with a shovel. (R 802-803) She said she and William were once beaten on Lovie's birthday because she was rude to one of the girls at the party. (R 800) Lovie went to

- 11 -

school with a black eye as a result. (R 800) She said she and the other children would lie about how they received their injuries. (R 801) She said Darryl never fought back, but she remembered one time when he ran away. (R 802)

Twice as a child, Darryl was knocked unconscious. In addition to the beating by his father, his brother, William, once hit Darryl with a baseball. (R 812-813) William testified that Darryl once became upset during a baseball game and walked away which made William angry. (R 813) William threw a baseball at Darryl while he was running home. The ball hit Darryl in the top of the head, knocking him to the ground. (R 813) He lay still for several seconds before getting up and continuing home. (R 813)

According to Darryl's mother, Imogene Barwick, Darryl was a timid child. (R 719) He was the youngest of her seven children. (R 716) Other children sometimes considered him a sissy. (R 742) He suffered a speech problem, stuttering, and was a slow learner in school. (R 717-718) Although he never received any special help, he repeated the first grade. (R 718) After being in trouble as a teenager, Darryl did go to the Bay County Guidance Clinic one time. (R 725-726) Other than being shy, Darryl's family did not recall him having problems with girls. (R 727, 742, 804)

Teri Race had known Darryl since they were in the sixth grade together. (R 674) She saw him frequently until the tenth grade when Darryl went to prison for the sexual battery conviction. (R 674) She wrote him during that time, and they had

- 12 -

been dating constantly since he returned home three months before the homicide. (R 675) They began discussing marriage. (R 676) Darryl discussed his mental problems with her. (R 677) Teri testified that Darryl told her he wanted to know why he had committed the sexual battery. (R 677-678) He did not understand his feelings or what made him commit the crime. (R 678) He asked his probation officer to send him to a psychiatrist. (R 678-679, 684-687) A social worker at the Bay County Guidance Clinic, Ralph Batsen, saw Darryl on April 14, 1988. (R 1083-1085) Teri also said that Darryl told her that he committed the homicide. (R 703-714) He said that while in the apartment the woman started fighting him and he killed her with a steak knife from the kitchen in the apartment. (R 712-714) Teri testified that Darryl told her that "once he started that he just couldn't guit and it was like someone inside of him that took over, and from that point on it was like somebody different." (R 713)

James E. Beller, an associate of Dr. Clell Warriner, testified about the neuropsychological testing he performed on Barwick. (R 900-973) Although the court allowed Beller to testify, the court would not qualify him as an expert witness because he did not have a doctorate and was not a licensed clinical psychologist. (R 880-899, 911, 932, 972-974) Beller has a masters degree in psychology and considerable experience in his area. (R 1031-1035)(SR 68-71,91-167) He was allowed to give his opinion, but he was not allowed to give the psychological basis for his opinion. (R 880-899, 972-974, 1031-1035) As

- 13 -

a result, his testimony was restricted. (R 911, 932, 972-974, 1031-1035) Beller gave Barwick approximately six hours of tests. (R 905) He also interviewed Barwick's mother and reviewed depositions and reports concerning the case. (R 906) Barwick's IQ was average, but Beller found that performance IQ was 16 points higher than the verbal range which can be an indicator of brain damage. (R 907-908) Testing disclosed that Barwick suffers from several learning disabilities which impaired his ability to speak, read, spell and remember. (R 908-909) The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory indicated that Barwick's substantial thought disorder had the potential for psychotic behavior. (R 912-913) Barwick's personality profile described him as a person with "schizoid, dissociative, depersonalized, psychopathic and exhibitionist tendencies." (R 914)

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