IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARRYL BRYAN BARWICK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 70,097

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HELEN P. NELSON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 562505

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

J. WHITE SID .//// 18 1938 CLERK, SOPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

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

> > - 37 -

2. The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing, or attempting to commit, a robbery, attempted sexual battery, and a burglary. F.S. 921.141(5)(d). The evidence at trial clearly established the defendant's committing of these crimes in the same episode as the murder.

3. The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. F.S. 921.141(5)(e). Both William Barwick and Victoria Burns testified at trial that the defendant told them that he killed the victim because she got a good look at his face. The victim of the 1983 Sexual Battery and Burglary testified that when the defendant approached her he was wearing a ski As that episode continued, the mask. victim talked the defendant into taking off the ski mask. After the Sexual Battery, as the defendant was preparing to leave, he stated to her "we have a problem, you have seen my face". The victim promised the defendant that she would not report the crime. After the defendant left, the victim did call the police, the defendant was subsequently arrested, convicted, and imprisoned for this offense. The testimony of William Barwick and Victoria Burns, especially in light of the testimony of the victim Battery of the 1983 Sexual and Burglary, clearly establishes this aggravated circumstance.

4. The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. F.S. 921.141(5)(h). The Medical Examiner testified that the victim, a 24 year old female, had suffered 37 stab wounds to her neck, thorax, abdomen, back and arms, numerous incised (defense) wounds to her hands, plus bruises and abrasions to her face. Approximately 30 of the 37 stab wounds were superficial, in that they were less than one and a half inches deep. He testified that the victim would have lived five to ten minutes from receiving any of these wounds. The numerous shallow wounds and the defense wounds to the

hands indicate that the victim was struggling for her life for guite some time during this attack. These physical facts are corroborated by the defendant's statements that he struggled with the victim and that he stabbed her until she quit moving. Victoria Burns testified that the defense told her that "the victim was scared to death" and that she was "looking at him like she knew what was going to happen". This aggravating circumstance has clearly been established.

The court finds that the above aggravating circumstances have been proven beyond reasonable doubt.

(R 2336-2337).

The court further found, after studying, considering, and weighing all the evidence in the case, that no mitigating circumstances exist in this case. (R 2337-2338).

The aggravating circumstances were proven beyond any reasonable doubt and there were no mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances. Death is the appropriate penalty for Barwick.

Barwick's arguments relative to mental and emotional impairment and loss of control in a panic reaction to stress, were rejected by both the jury and the trial court who chose not to accept Barwick's defense. Barwick argues that he has a reputation for nonviolence. This argument is absurd given the fact that he has a violent criminal history.

Barwick relies on <u>Proffitt v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987) as authority for his position that he is entitled to a

reduction of his death sentence to life. This reliance is misplaced. In <u>Proffitt</u> at resentencing, the trial court found two mitigating circumstances. The court in the instant case found none. In <u>Proffitt</u>, there was no evidence that Proffitt entered the dwelling armed in any way, whereas Barwick entered Rebecca Wendt's home wearing gloves and armed with a knife. (After seeing the victim, Barwick had gone home, where he got his gloves and knife and returned to the victim's residence whereupon he brutally murdered her.)

Also in <u>Proffitt</u>, the defendant had been drinking and had no criminal history. In the instant case, Barwick had not been drinking and had a history of criminal activity.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Caruthers v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1985) likewise is easily distinguished from the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>. In <u>Caruthers</u>, one valid aggravating circumstance existed, along with one mitigating circumstance and several nonstatutory mitigating factors. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Appellant had several aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances.

In <u>Rembert v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1984) the court found that one aggravating factor and no mitigating circumstances had been established, and further held that given the facts and circumstances of the case, as compared with other first-degree murder cases, the death penalty was unwarranted. This is unlike the instant case where several aggravating circumstances were found and the murder was particularly brutal. Contrary to Barwick's arguments and assertions to the contrary, the mitigating circumstance of mental impairment of Barwick, was clearly not accepted by either the jury or the trial judge. Evidence of mental impairment was presented and rejected.

Barwick cites several cases for his assertion that this court has recognized the mitigating quality of crimes committed impulsively while the perpetrator suffers from a mental disorder rendering him temporarily out of control. <u>Holsworth v. State</u>, No. 67,973 (Fla. Feb. 18, 1988); <u>Amazon v. State</u>, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1986); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1979); <u>Burch v.</u> <u>State</u>, 343 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1977) and <u>Jones v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1976). An analysis of those cases, however, reveals that they greatly differ from the instant case.

In <u>Holsworth</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court felt there was sufficient evidence for the jury to have concluded that appellant's conduct was affected by his use of drugs and alcohol. This is completely unlike the instant case.

In <u>Amazon</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court concluded that there was sufficient evidence for the jury to have found that Amazon acted under extreme mental or emotional disturbance. There was some inconclusive evidence that Amazon had taken drugs on the night of the murders. Another mitigating factor was found: age, which included consideration of emotional maturity.

In <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, the trial court found that the defendant was suffering from mental illness at the time of the murder,

- 41 -

unlike the instant case.

The court in <u>Burch</u>, <u>supra</u>, noted that the evidence established that at the time of the offenses the defendant was mentally disturbed and his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired as found by the trial judge, clearly unlike the facts in Barwick.

Finally, in <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, the jury unanimously recommended that the defendant be sentenced to life imprisonment, but the trial court sentenced him to death. The defendant suffered a paranoid psychosis to such an extent that his mental illness contributed to his strange behavior. In <u>Barwick</u>, however, neither the jury nor the trial judge accepted the defense of insanity.

Given the facts and circumstances of this case, the trial court properly sentenced Barwick to death. The death penalty is proportionate to the crime he committed. This court must affirm the sentence imposed as valid aggravating factors exist and no mitigating factors were found.



ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY AS TO BARWICK'S PREVIOUS AND CONTEMPORANEOUS CONVICTIONS FOR OTHER OFFENSES. (Restated by Appellee)

Barwick states that he realizes that the court can instruct the jury on all relevant aggravating circumstances. Barwick argues that in the jury instructions the trial court improperly severed single aggravating factors into two or more. This argument must fail.

The complained of instructions to the jury regarding aggravating circumstances were as follows:

"The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence:

"The Defendant has been previously convicted of another capital offense or a felony involving the use of threat of violence to some person. The crime of sexual battery is a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. The crime of burglary with assault is a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person.

"The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of, attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit the crime of burglary.

"The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of, attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit the crime of sexual battery.

"The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of, attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit the crime of robbery.

(R 1511-1512).

Barwick asserts that by so instructing the jury, the trial court created additional aggravating circumstances from his contemporaneous convictions, i.e., that he severed a single aggravating circumstance into two or more. Plainly, the trial judge did not, as is evidenced by the sentencing order. (R 2336-2337).

Section 921,141(5), Fla.Stat. provides for the finding of aggravating circumstances:

The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged, or was an accomplice, in the commission of, or flight after committing or attempting to commit any robbery, sexual battery, arson, burglary, kidnapping, or aircraft piracy or the unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb.

Barwick had prior convictions for the offenses of sexual battery and burglary with assault. The contemporaneous offenses were three, the crime of burglary, the crime of attempted sexual battery and the crime of robbery. The jury was properly instructed as to these prior and contemporaneous convictions.

This court dealt with a similar issue in <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985). Suarez claimed that the trial court erred in instructing the jury at the penalty phase on aggravating circumstances which have been held to constitute doubling. The court noted that the specific instructions involved two pairs of aggravating circumstances held to constitute improper doubling in Provence v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 969, 97 S.Ct. 2929, 53 L.Ed.2d 1065 (1977) and White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1229, 103 S.Ct. 3571, 77 L.Ed.2d 1412 (1983). Provence and White involved improper doubling in the trial court judge's sentencing order, and did not relate to the instructions to the penalty phase jury. The court noted, "The jury instructions simply give the jurors a list of arguably relevant aggravating factors from which to choose in making their assessment as to whether death was the proper sentence in light of any mitigating factors presented in the case. The judge, on the other hand, must set out the factors he finds both in aggravation and mitigation, and it is this sentencing order which is subject to review vis-a-vis doubling." Suarez at 1209. The sentencing order entered in the instant case was proper.

The trial judge found no mitigating circumstances but found several aggravating circumstances in the case <u>sub</u> judice. Reversible error did not occur as a result of the jury instructions. The conviction must, therefore, be affirmed.

ISSUE IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF DEATH. (Restated by Appellee)

Appellant argues that the trial court applied an erroneous legal standard regarding the weight to be afforded a jury's recommendation of death. As support for his argument Appellant quotes from the sentencing order as follows:

> The Jury has recommended death. That recommendation should be given great weight. The importance of that recommendation cannot be overstressed.

(R 1746).

However, the court went on and further stated,

This Court is well aware that the procedure to be followed is not a mere counting processing of "X" number of aggravating "Y" circumstances and number of mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasoned judgment and weighing process as to what factual situations require the imposition of death and satisfied by life which can be imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances present.

(R 1746-1747).

The court then proceeded to make findings of fact as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R 1746-1752, 2336-2338).

A recommendation of life is to be given great weight and not overturned absent compelling reasons. <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). The same is not true for a recommendation of

- 46 -

death, in which situation the trial judge is bound to exercise his own independent judgment in imposing sentence. Bolender v. State, 422 So.2d 833, cert. denied, 103 So.2d 2111, 461 U.S. 939, 77 L.Ed.2d 315, reh. denied, 103 S.Ct. 131, 77 L.Ed.2d 1380.

It is clear that in the case <u>sub judice</u>, the trial court exercised his own independent judgment in imposing sentence. He obviously recognized the inportance of the jury recommendation of death but as is apparent from his careful consideration of aggravating and mitigating circumstances the trial judge clearly exercised his own independent judgment in imposing sentence. (R 1746-1752). Barwick's death sentence was not imposed in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments and must be affirmed.

ISSUE X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING THE STANDARD PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE JURY'S ROLE IN THE SENTENCING PROCESS. (Restated by Appellee)

Barwick argues that the trial court read the standard penalty phase jury instructions to the jury, stating that the instruction violates <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). (R 1384, 1510). Barwick further states that the instruction is incomplete, misleading and mistates Florida law. (AB 63). This argument is completely without merit and must be rejected.

At the commencement of the penalty phase the court gave preliminary instructions to the jury as follows:

> THE COURT: All right, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you have found the Defendant guilty of murder in the first degree.

> The punishment for this crime is either death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for 25 years. The final decision as to what punishment shall be imposed rests solely with the Judge of this Court; however, the law requires that you, the jury, render to the Court an advisory sentence as to what punishment should be imposed upon the Defendant.

(R 1384).

Read as a whole, the charge to the jury clearly was proper. The charge, in pertinent part, is as follows:

THE COURT: "Ladies and Gentlemen of the jury, it is now your duty to advise the Court as to what punishment should be imposed on the Defendant for this crime of murder in the first degree. As you have been told, the final decision as to what punishment shall be imposed is the responsibility of the Judge; however, it is your duty to follow the law that will now be given to you by the Court and render to the Court an advisory sentence based upon determination your as to whether sufficient circumstances aggravating exist to justify the imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist.

"Your advisory sentence should be based upon the evidence that you have heard while trying the guilt or innocence of the Defendant and evidence that has been presented to you in these proceedings.

(R 1510-1511).

*

*

"The sentence that you recommend to the Court must be based upon the facts as you find them from the evidence and the law. You should weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances, and your advisory sentence must be based on these considerations.

*

(R 1514).

Appellee notes that since Barwick did not object at trial to these jury instructions he did not preserve this issue for review and thus is procedurally barred from review on appeal. (R 1516) Combs v. State, 13 F.L.W. 142 (Fla. 1988).

Appellant asserts that the instruction given violates <u>Caldwell</u> even though he recognizes that this Court has repeatedly ruled unfavorably to this position. (AB 63) <u>Combs</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 127 (Fla. 1988); <u>Aldridge v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1987).

This Court in <u>Pope v. Wainwright</u>, 496 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 107 S.Ct. 1617 (1987) considered the <u>Caldwell</u> issue, stating:

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